IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant-Appellant,

Supreme Court Case No. 71,697

 v_{\bullet}

SHANE L. STAFFORD,

Respondent-Appellee.

The Florida Bar File Nos. 87-26,201 (15A) and 87-26,347 (15A).

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

DAVID M. BARNOVITZ
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
5900 North Andrews Avenue
Suite 835
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309
(305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300
(904) 222-5286

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

From its inception, this disciplinary proceeding has involved but one issue, viz., the appropriate discipline for an attorney who violated two (2) felony statutes and a myriad of disciplinary rules in a solicitation/fee sharing scheme. Appellee waived probable cause and save for specific rule violations, admitted to every allegation of the bar's complaint.

In the Spring of 1984, appellee was employed by the firm of Stephens, Lynn, Chernay & Klien, a malpractice defense firm (22, 98)* and was in excellent standing (129). He had attained raises and bonuses and had an indication that, had he remained with the firm, he would someday have been considered for a partnership (129). He was one of the firm's top associates working directly with a partner and had been given his first case to try (130).

At the time, appellee was suffering from no afflictions or addictions and was experiencing no financial duress (130).

It was in such circumstances that appellee entered into an arrangement with one Roy Blevins, a uniformed police officer in the employ in the City of West Palm Beach, Florida for Blevins to solicit personal injury cases for handling by appellee in return for a split of attorney's fees generated thereby (131). Shortly after entering into such arrangement, appellee left his firm and associated with a plaintiffs' personal injury office, the firm of Dewey Varner, Esquire (105).

^{*} All page references are to transcript of final hearing unless otherwise specifically noted.

At the outset of the arrangement, appellee knew that the solicitation and fee sharing scheme was unethical (110, 137).

To disguise their arrangement, Blevins manufactured bogus invoices which represented 15% of the attorney's fees in each of the referral cases (108). Appellee, while conceding his appreciation of the unethical aspect of his arrangement, claimed to be ignorant of the felonious nature of the misconduct (110). Appellee terminated the arrangement only on the basis of its illegality, not because it was unethical (110, 137). As a matter of fact, appellee could not state with any degree of certainty, that had he not become aware of the felonious nature of his misconduct, he would ever have ceased his arrangement (139). He testified:

- Q. I cannot help but regard your testimony, Mr. Stafford, as leading to the conclusion, that but for the introduction to you of the criminal statute, you would have been content to continue to violate, at least, that which you knew to be a violation, the fee sharing arrangement with Mr. Blevins, to continue into the future -
- A. That is a hard question to answer, honestly, it is a hard question to answer, and I cannot honestly give you an answer, I have to be faced with that information at that time --
- Q. But you do understand in listening to what you testified could easily lead to that conclusion?
- A. Correct (138, 139).

At the final hearing, upon stipulation of the parties (12-14), the bar's complaint was amended and the appellee admitted to the following facts:

Between Spring, 1984 and Autumn, 1985 respondent entered into an arrangement with one Roy Blevins (hereinafter called "Blevins"), a uniformed police officer in the employ of the City of West Palm Beach, Florida for the purpose of soliciting business on respondent's behalf relating to the representation of persons injured in motor vehicle accidents for the purpose of filing motor vehicle tort claims and/or claims for personal injury protection benefits.

During such period of time, in pursuance of the aforesaid arrangement, the said Blevins, in fact, solicited business on respondent's behalf relating to the representation of persons injured in motor vehicle accidents resulting in respondent's filing of motor vehicle tort claims and/or claims for personal injury protection benefits.

Section 817.234(9), Fla. Stat., in effect at all times hereinabove referenced, provided, as follows:

It is unlawful for any attorney to solicit any business relating to the representation of persons injured in a motor vehicle accident for the purpose of filing a motor vehicle tort claim or a claim for personal injury protection benefits required by s. 627.736. Any attorney who violates the provisions of this subsection is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775-083, or s. 775-084.

Respondent accepted the business solicited on his behalf by Blevins and proceeded to try the various claims to verdict or settle the same.

Upon collecting his fee in each of such cases respondent shared a portion thereof with Blevins, a nonlawyer.

By sharing fees with a nonlawyer respondent violated Disciplinary Rule 3-102 of the Code of Professional Responsibility which provides that a lawyer shall not share legal fees with a nonlawyer.

Blevins, with respondent's knowledge and consent, solicited the business hereinabove referred to on respondent's behalf such solicitation taking place in or about public places, public streets and public highways in violation of Section 817.234(8), Fla. Stat., a violation of which constitutes a felony. (See bar's amended complaint and respondent's admissions on the record, pages 13-17).

The bar had charged that by committing felonies defined in Sections 817.234(8) and 817.234(9), Fla. Stat., the commission of which was admitted by appellee, appellee had thereby violated, inter alia, Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(3) and 1-102(A)(4) of the Code of Professional Responsibility proscribing illegal conduct involving moral turpitude and conduct constituting dishonesty, deceit, fraud or misrepresentation. The referee rejected such charges on the basis of The Florida Bar v. Pettie, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1982) (See referee's report, page 3).

The referee made the following recommendations regarding appellee's guilt. He found that appellee had violated Section 817.234(9), Fla. Stat. and thereby violated Disciplinary Rule 2-103(C) of the Code of Professional Responsibility which prohibits an attorney from requesting a person or organization to recommend employment, as a private practitioner, of himself and also thereby violated Fla. Bar Integr. Rule, article XI, Rule 11.02(3) which provides that an attorney shall not engage in conduct contrary to good morals (See referee's report, page 3). He found that appellee had violated Disciplinary Rule 3-102 of the Code of Professional Responsibility by sharing legal fees with Blevins, a nonlawyer (See referee's report, page 3). He found that appellee had violated Section 817.234(8), Fla. Stat. and thereby violated Disciplinary Rule 2-103(C) of the Code of Professional Responsibility and Fla. Bar Integr. Rule, article XI, Rule 11.02(3) (See referee's report, page 3).

Finally, the referee made recommendations for finding two (2) violations not charged by the bar, viz., Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A) (1) and 1-102(A) (6) which provide that an attorney shall not violate a

Disciplinary Rule and shall not engage in other conduct which adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

For the violations by appellee of the two (2) felony statutes above enumerated and the various bar rule violations, the referee has recommended a public reprimand, a ninety (90) day suspension and a specified probation. Placing his finger firmly and directly upon the pulse beat of this proceeding, the referee identified the single issue to be determined. He observed:

The most difficult aspect of this for the referee is in fashioning a recommendation as to punishment, given some of the older cases involving similar conduct. The difficult issue is whether the climate of today, vis a vis, lawyer misconduct, demands more rigorous punishment than has been meted out for similar offenses in the past (referee's report, page 4).

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar, at its July, 1988 meeting, directed that an appeal be taken from the referee's recommendations and that the bar seek a disbarment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This disciplinary proceeding is different from all prior solicitation/fee sharing cases previously addressed by this court. It, unlike all others, involves the commission by appellee of violations of two (2) criminal statutes which define, as felonies, the very acts constituting the basis of the bar's charges of ethical improprieties.

In discharging its constitutional mandate vis a vis lawyer regulation, the court has repeatedly articulated that its chief goal and paramount concern is the protection of the public. In 1983, the public, through its duly elected representatives, enacted Section 817.234(9), Fla. Stat., rendering it a felony for an attorney to solicit motor vehicle tort claims. In enacting such statute, the legislature took special pains to mandate that any grievance committee finding probable cause to believe that an attorney violated such statute "shall forward to the appropriate state attorney a copy of the finding of probable cause..."

While the court may previously have regarded solicitation and fee sharing as warranting discipline less than disbarment, it is respectfully submitted that the public perceives such conduct as far more serious, indeed, felonious. Having expressed its concern the public's perception should be afforded the weight to which it is entitled and, it is most respectfully submitted, a discipline in the instant proceeding less than disbarment would cast a serious reflection on the dignity of the court and on the reputation of the legal profession.

Appellee's misconduct was committed knowingly and stopped, not due to his appreciation of ethics violations, but solely due to fear of criminal sanction. Appellee's alleged rehabilitation is belied by his acknowledgement that but for the felony consequences of his misconduct, his scheme of ambulance chasing may well have continued.

ARGUMENT

I. AN ATTORNEY PARTICIPATING IN A SOLICITATION/
FEE SHARING SCHEME, THEREBY VIOLATING FELONY
STATUTES AND ETHICAL PROSCRIPTIONS, SHOULD
BE DISBARRED.

Thirty four years ago, this court determined that solicitation cannot be said to constitute an offense "that is the product of innate baseness or depravity like the embezzlement or misappropriation of funds entrusted to him, showing him to be one who cannot be properly trusted to advise and act for clients." The Florida Bar v. Murrell, 74 So.2d 221, 227 (Fla. 1954). It accordingly directed a two (2) year suspension. In its deliberations, however, the court recognized that there are non-client relationship considerations that can create cause for disbarment. One criterion established for imposition of disbarment was conduct that "would cast a serious reflection on the dignity of the court and on the reputation of the profession." (Ibid, page 224). The court recognized that the canons of ethics require "constant addition, modification and clarification" due to "changing circumstances and conditions." (Ibid, page 224).

The bar respectfully submits that changing circumstances and conditions have so impacted the area of attorney solicitation and fee sharing that discipline less than disbarment for breaches of the criminal statutes and ethical proscriptions pertaining to such misconduct will cast a serious reflection on the dignity of the court and on the reputation of the profession.

The novel aspect of this case is that the court is asked to consider, for the first time, what constitutes the appropriate discipline for an attorney who not only knowingly violated The Florida Bar Integration Rule and Disciplinary Rules of the Code of Professional Responsibility, but who also committed two (2) felonies in pursuing his misconduct. No such felonies were present in Murrell, supra, and no such felonies were present in any other previously determined solicitation case.

It is axiomatic that the primary goal of disciplinary proceedings is to effect a judgment just to the public with the court's duty to society the paramount concern. The Florida Bar v. Murrell, supra; The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983). It is respectfully submitted that the public has articulated its view of attorney solicitation in a message both purposeful and resounding. In 1983, the legislature enacted section 817.234(9), Fla. Stat., which expressly prohibits attorney solicitation of motor vehicle tort cases rendering the violation of such statute a felony. Mindful of the bar's involvement in such matters, the legislature mandated that grievance committees forward all findings of probable cause to the appropriate state's attorney's office where the findings include a determination of a violation of the statute. If the public has seen fit to regard conduct such as indulged in by appellee to constitute felonious behavior, then its view and perception, it is respectfully submitted, should be taken into consideration by the court in fashioning a discipline.

Circumstances and conditions have indeed changed since <u>Murrell</u>, supra. The ranks of The Florida Bar membership have swelled to over 40,000.00. Population has increased by staggering proportions.

Highways have become nightmare portents of what seems inevitable gridlock. Accidents producing motor vehicle tort claims are ubiquitous. The public, traumatized by these various pressures, apparently viewed the additional indignity of attorney solicitation to be so burdensome and threatening as to require the condemnation thereof by enactment of a felony statute. If the court had doubt in 1954 that attorney solicitation did not seriously reflect on the reputation of the profession, its view must, of necessity, be altered in light of the public's expression of disdain for such conduct. It is most respectfully suggested that for the court to direct a suspension in light of the public's abhorrence of the misconduct in question, would indeed cast a serious reflection on the dignity of the court.

The referee was concerned with the case precedent and remarked:

At the time these other cases that Mr. Barnovitz gave me were ruled on, there, apparently, was no statute making it a crime to solicit, and under the circumstances that we have in this case, the criminal aspect of the conduct was not present in these cases, I do not believe... (191).

He also discerned changed conditions and circumstances observing:

I am impressed, I think, with the fact that the profession is under a great deal of scrutiny today, and these kinds of problems are perhaps seen in a brighter light in the public sector than back in the '50's and '60's so does that call for a more enhanced punishment, so to speak? (192).

It seems apparent to the bar that the referee, in making his discipline recommendations, felt constrained to apply a lighter standard in line with the court's position in the many solicitation cases it addressed over the years.* Notwithstanding his recommendation, the referee expressed his reservation by reciting:

^{*}A compendium of post <u>Murrell</u> cases involving solicitation is attached hereto as Appendix A.

The most difficult aspect of this for the referee is in fashioning a recommendation as to punishment, given some of the older cases involving similar conduct. The difficult issue is whether the climate of today, vis a vis, lawyer misconduct, demands more rigorous punishment than has been meted out for similar offenses in the past (referee's report, page 4).

Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions addresses misconduct not only involving the attorney-client relationship but non-client considerations meriting the sanction of disbarment. Rule 7-1 recites:

Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

All of the criteria are met in this case. Appellee, by his own admission, intentionally engaged in the ambulance chasing scheme knowing his conduct to be unethical (110, 137). There can be no question that the sole purpose of the misconduct was to obtain a benefit for appellee and his police officer runner. There can be no question but that the misconduct caused serious injury to the clients involved, the public and the legal profession. It is hard to imagine individuals in more vulnerable positions than those, who finding themselves victims involved in the midst of auto accidents, suffering personal injuries and/or property damages, are preyed upon by a runner clothed with the uniform and badge of a guardian of the public trust and welfare.

II. THERE ARE INSUFFICIENT MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES TO WARRANT A REDUCTION OF SANCTION.

his report, the referee noted a number of mitigating circumstances (referee's report, page 4). The bar respectfully submits that several do not constitute mitigating factors. For instance, the referee remarked upon appellee's cooperation with law enforcement authorities and the bar in the criminal and bar investigations. so-called cooperation is illusory. Firstly, it should be understood that the only reason the misconduct came to light was because the police officer's wife, involved in a domestic relations dispute with him, determined to report the scheme to the criminal authorities (114, 115). Once the tale was told, there was an iron clad case established beyond a reasonable doubt based, among other things, upon a paper trail (59). Appellee had abandoned his scheme over a year prior to its revelation. The presumption is inescapable that but for a woman scorned, the misconduct would never have surfaced; certainly not from the mouth of appellee. The bar urges, as it has before, that the admission of wrongdoing by a respondent, faced with overwhelming and irrebuttable evidence of his misconduct, is simply not heroic or mitigating.

The referee considered as a mitigating circumstance that appellee has "voluntarily stopped his conduct before it ever came to light" (referee's report, page 4). The bar, again, most respectfully disagrees. Viewed in a light most favorable to appellee, his cessation of the misconduct in question was due solely and exclusively to the revelation that he was engaged in criminal conduct. The fact that he was violating his professional code of conduct played no role in his determination to abandon the scheme. He could not state, even at the

final hearing, that he would have abandoned the arrangement merely because it was unethical, a fact he knew at the outset of his misconduct (136-138).

Reference is made to the emotional trauma experienced by appellee and his family (referee's report, page 4). In the bar's view, this should not be a mitigating circumstance. It is a self fulfilling prophecy and tragedy that miscreants wreak havoc upon their families. This is true in every case where public sanctions are involved.

Ignorantia legis non excusat is a maxim based in antiquity as a protection against anarchy. It is particularly unbecoming for an attorney to suggest that his ignorance of the law should somehow mitigate his wrongdoing. This is especially true where the attorney has acknowledged his appreciation that his misconduct was committed in knowing breach of ethical proscriptions. Thus, the bar most respectfully takes exception to the referee's suggestion that appellee's failure to appreciate the criminality of his actions is a mitigating circumstance.

CONCLUSION

The public and the bar are disgusted by the specter of attorneys practicing base falconry, releasing taloned runners to fetch the carrion of highway disasters in order to quench their appetites for contingent fees. A disbarment order in this case will serve to assure the public that the bar is sensitive to its concern and, it is respectfully submitted, will deter others from similar misconduct.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

DAVID M. BARNOVITZ

Bar Counsel

The Florida Bar

5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 835

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309

(305) 772-2245