IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

v.

Complainant-Appellant,

Respondent-Appellee.

Supreme Court Case No. 71,697

SHANE L. STAFFORD,

The Florida Bar File Nos. 87-26,201 (15A) and 87-26,347 (15A).

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

JOHN A. WEISS P. O. Box 1167 101 N. Gadsden Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 681-9010 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Board's demand that Respondent be disbarred is totally unwarranted. There is no basis in fact or in prior case law for such a Draconian penalty.

This Court's Referee, who considered the same cases cited in the Bar's brief, and after considering virtually the same argument put forth by the Bar in its brief, determined that a ninety day suspension with automatic reinstatement, coupled with three years probation and at least twelve personal appearances before law students or Bar Associations was sufficient punishment for Respondent's offense.

While Respondent was charged with a felony, ultimately all charges against him were dismissed. He has not been found guilty of a crime. His not guilty plea to the crime was never changed. The State Attorney determined that there was no likelihood that his misconduct would be repeated. No client was harmed as a result of Respondent's misconduct and audits of his trust account records have indicated no impropriety as to client's funds.

Respondent's misconduct did not involve an " ambulance chasing" scheme. It evolved out of a casual conversation with a police officer who referred one of his friends to the Respondent. In fact, of the approximately eleven cases referred to Respondent over a less than two year period, only

two or three of them were traffic cases that the officer investigated. It was not Respondent's intent that the officer would solicit accident victims, but rather, that the officer would refer friends, relatives or acquaintances who were injured and needed a lawyer. All of the referral fees that were paid to the officer came out of Respondent's fees.

The Referee, after consulting with The Florida Bar's standards for imposing sanctions, specifically found substantial mitigation in the case before him. That mitigation included no prior disciplinary record, Respondent's excellent reputation for honesty and ability in the legal community (including at least two instances where Respondent's conduct has been in accord with the highest standards of professionalism by preventing insurance fraud), Respondent's whole hearted cooperation with law enforcement authorities and with The Florida Bar in their investigation into his conduct, Respondent's inexperience at the time his misconduct began, his voluntary cessation of the misconduct and, most importantly, Respondent's acknowledgment of his wrongdoing and his genuine remorse for his actions.

The mitigation cited by the Referee is substantial, is specifically endorsed by The Bar's standard for imposing sanctions, and are most relevant in determining any discipline to be imposed. The Board's argument that mitigation in this case should be ignored is as irresponsible as their demand that Respondent be disbarred.

This Court's Referee made his recommendation after reviewing the same cases, the same facts and after hearing the same arguments presented by the Bar at final hearing. This recommendation is sound and should not be disturbed absent compelling reasons. The Bar, in rehashing the same arguments made at final hearing, when they only sought a three year suspension, should not now be allowed to override the Referee's recommendation by seeking disbarment.

ARGUMENT

I. DISBARMENT IS COMPLETELY INAPPROPRIATE FOR RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT DESPITE THE FACT THAT IT INVOLVED A SOLICITATION/FEE SHARING SCHEME.

At final hearing in this cause, The Board of Governors asked for a three year suspension. Now that the Referee after hearing the facts, considering the case law and observing Respondent's demeanor and attitude, has recommended a ninety day suspension, The Board has demanded disbarment. That demand borders is unjustified.

The Board has demanded disbarment despite this Court's Referee's recommendation that Respondent receive a ninety day suspension. The Board has demanded disbarment despite the State Attorney's position that Respondent's offense warranted pretrial intervention without the requirement that Respondent change his not guilty plea, and despite the fact that the State <u>nolle prossed</u> its charges. The Board has asked for disbarment in total disregard of this court's prior sanctions for similar misconduct. Finally, The Board demands disbarment despite substantial mitigating factors, including Respondent's voluntary termination of his improper conduct

over one year before it was discovered, despite the fact that there was no financial harm to any party involved, and despite the fact that Respondent sincerely regrets his actions.

The Board demands a harsher penalty in this case than that meted out to lawyers who engage in drug dealing, <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Carbonaro</u> 464 So.2nd 549 (Fla. 1985)(three year suspension for dealing in cocaine); who posses cocaine, a felony, and who are guilty of DUI, <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Finkelstein</u>, 522 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1988) (a one year suspension); who embezzle money from a bank in which they are an officer, <u>The Florida Bar v. Kennedy</u> 439 So.2nd 215 (Fla. 1983); and who steal their clients' trust funds, <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Tunsil</u>, 503 So. 2nd 1230 (Fla. 1987) (a one year suspension.) Disbarment is simply totally inappropriate for the misconduct before this Court.

Disbarment should be reserved for those who will never be fit to be before the Bar, and who are totally incapable of rehabilitation. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hirsch</u> 342 So.2nd 97Ø (Fla. 1977) (at 971). Obviously Respondent fits into neither category.

The Bar seems to argue that penalties for misconduct, as the cost of food due to inflation, must increase as years go by. Perhaps something akin to the Consumer Price Index. This untenable argument seems to be what The Bar is arguing when

they refer to <u>The Florida Bar v. Murrell</u>, 74 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1954), as being a 34 year old decision and in arguing that cases more than 20 years old and contrary to the Bar's position should be disregarded.

In <u>Murrell</u>, the Respondent received a one year suspension after being found guilty of seven counts of solicitation of business. (Respondent's suspension was cut to one year from two years if he paid costs within ninety days. While the record is silent, the writer suspects that it is safe to assume that Mr. Murrell promptly retired costs to knock one year off of his suspension. Regardless, the significance is that the Supreme Court felt that a suspension of one year was appropriate for this misconduct.)

This Court, admittedly 34 years ago, determined that Mr. Murrell should be suspended for one year despite their finding that

> There is no showing of penance on his part but on the contrary a showing of persistence until the institution of this case.

Unlike the Respondent in the instant case, Mr. Murrell evinced no attitude of remorse, did not acknowledge his wrongdoing, and most significantly, persisted in his improper course of conduct until The Florida Bar brought disciplinary proceedings against him. Respondent, on the other hand, voluntarily stopped his improper conduct at a time when he had no reason to believe that anyone would ever find out

about it and impressed the Referee with his sincere attitude of remorse.

Respondent does not deserve as stern a discipline as that meted out to Mr. Murrell. The passage of 34 years certainly does not warrant increasing the penalty five fold, i.e., to disbarment for a minimum of five years.

The Board does not and cannot, point to any cases in which conduct similar to Respondent's has resulted in any sanction greater than six months.

In the comprehensive list of solicitation cases cited by The Florida Bar in its appendix, there is but one in which disbarment was imposed, <u>The Florida Bar v. Dodd</u> 195 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1967). Mr. Dodd had previously been disbarred and reinstated. Clearly, this court having disbarred Mr. Dodd once and giving him the benefit of the doubt, through reinstatement, dealt harshly with his second offense and struck his name from the bar. Having once been disbarred, disbarment was appropriate for subsequent misconduct.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Pace</u>, 426 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1982), the accused was allowed to resign. Mr. Pace's resignation was voluntary and under the rules in existence at that time he was allowed to seek reinstatement (not readmission through the Board of Governors as is now required) after the lapse of three years. His resignation followed on the heels of his conviction for one count of solicitation. He was also guilty

of perjury, having testified falsely regarding the time certain time slips were written.

The Bar lists in its Appendix nine cases in which lawyers have been suspended and four cases in which lawyers have received reprimands for solicitation. Among the suspension cases is <u>The Florida Bar v. Murrell, supra</u>, which has been previously discussed. The most serious of the other suspensions was <u>The Florida Bar v. Meserve</u> 372 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1979), where this Court suspended Mr. Meserve for two years retroactive to 1977, the beginning of his temporary suspension.

Mr. Meserve's misconduct did not involve just solicitation. It involved his permitting a non-lawyer to draft pleadings which were signed by Meserve's secretary, collecting fees and rendering no services, permitting false pleadings to be filed and attempting to block police officers from executing under a capias. By no stretch of the imagination can the misconduct in the case at bar be considered as serious as that in <u>Meserve.</u>. Yet, the Board demands that the Respondent receives a far harsher penalty than that meted out only nine years ago.

The notorious Billy Dawson was the accused in another suspension case cited by the Bar. <u>The Florida Bar v. Dawson</u> 111 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 1959). Mr. Dawson used a photographer with a police radio as a runner. Based upon information received from the photographer, Mr. Dawson would sign up

clients at hospitals. There were numerous instances of personal injury contracts being written on scraps of paper, scratch pads, filing cards and bits of stationery. Some of the contracts were signed in hospitals. Mr. Dawson also improperly advanced hospital costs and funeral expenses and costs were contingent upon success. Clearly, Mr. Dawson was engaged in a widespread and extensive solicitation scheme. There is nothing in the records that indicate he voluntarily stopped his misconduct and, certainly, it lasted far longer than the approximately twenty months that Respondent's misconduct lasted and involved far more accounts than the ten or eleven instances in the instant case.

Mr. Dawson received but an 18 month suspension for misconduct far worse than that at bar.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Abrams</u> 402 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1981) the accused received a one-year suspension. Mr. Abrams solicited the representation of witnesses in criminal cases then pending against one of his clients. Clearly, there was a blatant conflict of interest involved in this case. Respondent's misconduct was exacerbated by the fact that he falsely told the immunized witnesses that their immunity was not binding and he directed them not to testify. As a result of his actions, at least one of the witnesses who had been previously immunized was prosecuted.

2Ø

Mr. Abrams' misconduct was far worse than that involved in the case at bar. Yet, Mr. Abrams received but a one year suspension. It should be noted that the Abrams came down in 1981.

Six month suspensions were handed out in <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Perry</u>, 377 So.2d 712 (Fla.1979), <u>The Florida Bar v. Curry</u>, 211 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1968), <u>The Florida Bar v. Scott</u>, 197 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1967) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Bieley</u>, 120 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1960). Notable among the misconduct involved in these cases was that in <u>Scott</u>, in which the accused lawyer used a clergyman to solicit four widows whose husbands had died in an accident. <u>Scott</u> is another one of those old cases that the Bar argues should be disregarded. Yet, a close reading of the decision indicates Mr. Scott's six months suspension was handed down in the same atmosphere as exists today. On page 520 of the opinion, Justice Drew stated:

> In this eara of high verdicts in negligence cases, the temptation is great to cut corners to get business but such actions on the part of the Bar cannot and must not be tolerated.

The Respondent in the instant case acknowledges the sentiment expressed by Justice Drew 21 years ago and accepts the necessity of his being disciplined. But, he rejects the Bar's assertion that he should be disbarred.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Britton</u>, 181 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1965), the accused lawyer received a three month suspension for solicitation plus additional misconduct.

Even as recently as 1986, this court has only ordered public reprimands for misconduct involving solicitation. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Schulman</u>, 484 So.2d 1247 (Fla. 1986), a lawyer received a public reprimand for purchasing confidential hospital records and soliciting personal injury cases from them.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Swidler</u>, 159 So.2d. 865 (Fla. 1964) (Respondent notes that in the Bar's Appendix this case is referred to as <u>The Florida Bar v. Swindler</u>; perhaps a Freudian slip?) the accused received but a public reprimand for a solicitation scheme that lasted over three years and which may have resulted in as many as two hundred new cases. Mr. Swidler used his non-lawyer brother as a runner and even placed the brother's name on his law office shingle.

Certainly, the misconduct in the case at bar is no worse than that engaged in by Mr. Swidler. The Referee in these proceedings, however, recommended that Respondent receive a 90 day suspension instead of the public reprimand given Mr. Swidler. Respondent, consistent with the penitent attitude expressed throughout these proceedings, admits and acknowledges that the range of discretion available to the Referee permits a recommendation of the 90 day suspension

rather than a public reprimand.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Gaer</u>, 380 So.2d. 429 (Fla. 1980), the Respondent received a public reprimand for using a bail bondsman to solicit cases. Mr. Gaer was convicted of five misdemeanor counts of solicitation.

In <u>Gaer</u>, the Board of Governors only sought a six month suspension. Respondent's misconduct is no worse than Mr. Gaer's. Yet, now, eight years later the Board is seeking disbarment. Their position is inappropriately inconsistent.

Finally, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Abramson</u>, 199 So.2d. 457 (Fla. 1967), a public reprimand was handed out for one instance of solicitation at a hospital.

None of the cases cited above justify The Bar's position that Respondent should be disbarred. Their arguments as to discipline should be disregarded and the Referee's wise decision should be upheld.

In fact, the cases cited by the Bar support Respondent's argument that a 90 day suspension with three years probation is an appropriate sanction for his offense.

The Bar argues that the passage of time since the bulk of this court's decisions on solicitation should result in a harsher discipline. Yet, the Referee specifically considered exactly that factor when making his recommendation as to discipline. As quoted by The Bar in its brief, the Referee stated on page 4 of his report that

The most difficult aspect of this for the Referee is in fashioning a recommendation as to punishment, given some of the older cases involving similar conduct. The difficult issue is whether the climate of today, vis-a-vis lawyer misconduct, demands more rigorous punishment than has been meted out for similar offenses in the past.

The Referee specifically considered the passage of time element in recommending a 90 day suspension. The Bar had argued for a three (3) year suspension before the Referee, now it argues for disbarment before this Court. Neither position is tenable.

Contrary to The Board's argument, Respondent did not intentionally enter into an ambulance chasing scheme. Respondent admits his misconduct and acknowledges the propriety of discipline. However, He would point out that the situation that he found himself in, not long after being admitted to The Bar, involved paying a referral fee to an individual who was referring his <u>friends</u> to Respondent for personal injury work.

While Respondent does not want to give the appearance to this Court that he is minimizing his misconduct, and while recognizing that it was improper, Respondent would emphasize to the court that the deliberate solicitation of accident victims investigated by the policeman was not the intent of

the parties. In fact, it was not the result. Of the eleven cases referred to Respondent, at most three were accident victims. The other eight were friends or relatives of the police officer.

Respondent takes issue with The Bar's assertion on page 11 of his brief that Respondent's actions "caused serious injury to the clients involved". There is no basis for such assertion. All of the clients had legitimate serious injuries. Eight of them were friends or relatives of officer Blevins. All of the clients were ably represented and none lost a single dime as a result of misconduct by Respondent. Officer Blevins' fees were paid out of Respondent's proper fee. The State Attorney's office deliberately investigated this facet of Respondent's referral fees and determined that no client lost anything.

II.THE REFEREE PROPERLY CONSIDERED NUMEROUS MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN DETERMINING THE SANCTION TO BE IMPOSED

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